IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. 90,511

ROGER LEE CHERRY,

Appellant,

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT
OF THE SEVENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT,
IN AND FOR VOLUSIA COUNTY, STATE OF FLORIDA

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

GREGORY C. SMITH Capital Collateral Counsel Florida Bar No. 279080

ANDREW THOMAS Chief Assistant CCC-NR Florida Bar No. 0317942

SYLVIA W. SMITH
Assistant CCC-NR
Florida Bar No. 0055816

OFFICE OF THE CAPITAL COLLATERAL COUNSEL Northern Region of Florida Post Office Drawer 5498 Tallahassee, FL 32314-5498

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

Roger Lee Cherry was indicted for two counts of first degree murder, one count of burglary with assault, and one count of grand theft on September 9, 1986, in Volusia County, Florida. (R. 1070-1071.) The government's case is summarized in this Court's direct appeal opinion. Cherry v. State, 544 So. 2d 184 (Fla. 1989). Trial followed and the jury convicted Mr. Cherry as charged on September 25, 1987. (R. 1029-1031; 1235-1238.) Penalty phase was conducted the following day, during which the government presented no additional evidence and Mr. Cherry's appointed counsel presented no testimony and introduced but a single psychiatric evaluation, performed by Dr. Barnard, of Mr. Cherry. (R. 1166-1169.) Following instructions and deliberations, the jury recommended, by votes of 7-5 and 9-3, that sentences of death be imposed for the first degree felony murders of Leonard and Esther Wayne. (R. 1061-1063; 1239-1240.) The trial court sentenced Mr. Cherry to death on both counts, finding four aggravating circumstances and no mitigating circumstances. (R. 1241-1244.)¹

On direct appeal this Court affirmed the convictions, vacated the death sentence imposed for the death of Leonard Wayne, and, finding the trial court failed to follow mandatory sentencing guidelines, vacated the sentences imposed for the non-

¹In the sentencing order, the trial judge stated that he did not rely on any psychiatric reports in making his sentencing decision (R. 1244), which, of course, was the only "evidence" introduced by Mr. Cherry's counsel during penalty phase (R. 1037).

capital offenses. <u>Cherry</u>, 544 So. 2d at 188. Although this Court found an improper doubling of aggravating circumstances, the death sentence imposed for the death of Esther Wayne was nevertheless affirmed based upon the remaining aggravating factors and the "the absence of any mitigating factors." <u>Id.</u>

Mr. Cherry, then represented by <u>pro bono</u> counsel, sought postconviction relief by filing a Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.850 motion on April 16, 1992, which contained twenty (20) claims for relief. (PC-R1. 46-426.) The State was ordered to respond, (PC-R1. 1805), and did so on June 30, 1992. (PC-R1. 1809-1928.) On March 12, 1993, without affording Mr. Cherry any opportunity to present legal argument regarding his asserted claims, the trial court summarily denied the motion. (PC-R1. 2205-2224.) Motion for rehearing was denied April 25, 1994. (PC-R1. 2287.) Notice of appeal was timely filed. (PC-R1. 2288-2290.) Thereafter, briefs were filed with this Court and oral argument heard.

On August 31, 1995, this Court rendered it's opinion in Cherry v. State, 659 So. 2d 1069 (Fla. 1995). The relevant portion of this Court's opinion for the instant appeal is as follows:

Cherry claims that trial counsel presented practically no mitigating evidence at the penalty phase other than a single four-page psychiatric report which was introduced without further argument or comment. Counsel made virtually no attempt to present evidence or to argue mitigating circumstances. Cherry claimed in his 3.850 motion and detailed supporting material attached that the following information was available had counsel conducted an adequate investigation

of mitigating circumstances: (1) Cherry grew up in conditions of abject poverty; (2) Cherry was severely physically and emotionally abused and neglected from the time he was an infant; (3) Cherry's mother was an alcoholic who drank during her pregnancy and throughout his life and repeatedly neglected, rejected, and abandoned (4) Cherry witnessed extreme violence as a child; (5) Cherry was institutionalized at a young age in a brutal and segregated juvenile institution. Cherry also specifically identifies three mental health experts in his petition who indicate that: (1) Cherry is now, and was at the time of trial, mentally retarded; (2) Cherry suffers from organic brain damage; (3) Cherry was incompetent to stand trial and testify; (4) Cherry's history supports both statutory and nonstatutory mitigating evidence; and (5) Cherry was intoxicated at the time of the offense.

Based on the volume and detail of evidence of mitigation alleged to exist compared to the sparseness of the evidence actually presented, we agree that Cherry is entitled to an evidentiary hearing on his claims that counsel was ineffective at the penalty phase.

<u>Cherry v. State</u>, 659 So. 2d at 1074.

This Court unanimously reversed the summary denial of the ineffective assistance of penalty phase counsel claim and remanded to the trial court for an evidentiary hearing. Id.

On October 27, 1995, Mr. Cherry's volunteer counsel moved to withdraw, (PC-R2. 14-20), and this request was granted on December 21, 1995. (PC-R2. 24-25.) Thereafter, it became necessary for counsel with the former Office of Capital Collateral Representative to assume Mr. Cherry's representation, continue the investigation of the case, and prepare for the evidentiary hearing ordered by this Court. (See, CCR's Motion

for Continuance and/or Motion to Hold Proceedings in Abeyance Pending Resolution of Designation of Counsel and attachments, filed January 11, 1996---PC-R2. 28-47.) Ultimately, an evidentiary hearing was conducted on December 16, 17, and 18, 1996. The record on appeal contains extensive background materials pertaining to Mr. Cherry. (PC-R2. 209-1586.)

Despite the substantial number of witnesses called to testify at the evidentiary hearing, difficulty arose in obtaining the attendance of all material witnesses.²

At the evidentiary hearing, appellant's trial counsel, David Miller, testified that he was court appointed, had no capital murder legal experience, and only "very limited" experience dealing with mental health issues, with none of that being in litigation. (PC-Tr. 8.) Miller recalled requesting a mental health evaluation "[t]o determine if there was an insanity

²Motions to Perpetuate Testimony were filed as early as August, 1996, (PC-R2. 106-111; 121-126.), denied (PC-R2. 136-138.), and the motions were renewed regarding certain witnesses, of particular importance being Drs. Glen Caddy, Kris Sperry, and Diane Lavete. (PC-Tr. 449-462.) The renewed motions were also denied. (PC-Tr. 475-477.) All of the doctors were outside the jurisdiction. (PC-Tr. 449-462.) Further, a number of affiants were unavailable and the affidavits proffered as exceptions to hearsay based upon Florida State 921.141 and caselaw allowing introduction of relevant hearsay evidence during sentencing in a capital case. (PC-Tr. 283-316.) The court excluded all witnesses pertaining to guilt/innocence, despite the State's statement that it had no objection to the entire record, including guilt/innocence being considered by the court. (PC-Tr. 285, 287, 290-293.) The court admitted affidavits concerning mitigation, but, although unclear in her rulings at times, apparently limited the use of them to materials utilized by Dr. Crown in reaching his opinions. (PC-Tr. 303-307.) This allowed the State to later argue in closing that the defendant had not presented witnesses referred to in his original 3.850 motion.

defense" and to determine competency to proceed. (PC-Tr. 9.) He did not request a penalty phase expert at any point in the proceedings and could not recall if he asked anyone to do a penalty phase investigation. (PC-Tr. 10.) Miller did not contact any of Mr. Cherry's family members and when questioned about neighbors, claimed he "wasn't aware he had any". He also failed to contact anyone who knew his client during his formative years, talked with none of Mr. Cherry's teachers, and requested no school records. (PC-Tr. 12.)

Specifically regarding mental health issues, Miller stated that he "was not qualified to determine whether or not there was a mental health issue." (PC-Tr. 13.) He thought the State had some mental health history on appellant, so he asked for the competency evaluation. He couldn't recall if Dr. Barnard (the psychiatrist appointed to evaluate Mr. Cherry for competency) requested that he provide background materials for review during the competency exam. Id. When Miller's memory was refreshed with the letter Dr. Barnard sent requesting such materials, the witness still couldn't recall if he ever sent anything, (PC-Tr. 14), and he believed the letter regarded "the defense of liability" and did not pertain to penalty phase/mitigation. (PC-Tr. 15.)

Miller claimed to have surveyed capital murder caselaw to prepare because he had a poor memory and frequently had to look things up to comply with law. (PC-Tr. 16.) He also claimed to have had "little regard for what the limitations of the law were

in the sense that [he] felt like it was [his] obligation to mitigate Mr. Cherry's sentence in any way [he] could." (PC-Tr. 17.) Further, he opined that his understanding was that "anything was fair game" during the penalty phase. Id. On proffer, Miller admitted he considered the jury a co-sentencer in Florida. (PC-Tr. 19.)

Miller had no recall of whether he presented any penalty phase witnesses during Mr. Cherry's trial, but upon review of the transcript of sentencing had to admit that he didn't see "any reference, if that's what you're asking me, to witnesses." (PC-Tr. 20, 22.) When counsel for Mr. Cherry requested the court take judicial notice of the penalty phase transcript, the State did not object and further stated: "...I would assume the Court would be considering the entire record in this case, including the trial transcript, as well as the evidence submitted at trial." (PC-Tr. 22.) Miller "thought it was unavoidable" that the case would go up on appeal and claimed to be very interested in protecting the record for appeal. Id. When Mr. Cherry sought to point out 35 instances of unrecorded bench conferences which were not reported, the State objected with: "...the only thing we're here for today is the penalty phase and ineffectiveness of assistance. All of the other issues have been litigated." When counsel for Mr. Cherry was asked to limit inquiry to penalty

³Thereafter, the State routinely sought to limit Mr. Cherry from presenting or arguing any evidence from the guilt/innocence phase of the trial and the trial court frequently sustained the State's objections.

phase, it was pointed out by counsel that there was no penalty phase and the State argued the guilt phase in penalty. (PC-Tr. 22, 23.) The court allowed proffer of the testimony, with reference to the record of the trial. (PC-Tr. 24.) Miller had no specific recall of specific objections or any strategic reason for failing to object to improper argument or vague jury instructions. (PC-Tr. 24-27.)

During cross-examination by the State, Miller confirmed he was primarily concerned with the guilt phase, that appellant claimed innocence, and the theory at trial was that Mr. Cherry was in the vicinity of the crimes but did not commit them. (PC-Tr. 28, 29.) Miller stated his meetings with his client "were not great in number, "he considered them "adequate in terms of communication, " and he purported to discuss penalty phase with Mr. Cherry, but was "unable to obtain" helpful penalty phase information despite the "adequate" communication. (PC-Tr. 30, 31.) Miller claimed to have asked about "people who could have helped" Mr. Cherry, but he knew "little or nothing" about his client's background. (PC-Tr. 33.) Miller had no recall of introducing Dr. Barnard's report during penalty phase and, upon review during the hearing, stated the report contained "good and bad" and he just couldn't recall if he used the report or not. (PC-Tr. 34.) Miller claimed he used a Biblical closing during penalty "[1]ikely because there was little else" and he "had no one step forward and elicit the testimony" he would have liked to have had. Despite this, he acknowledged he somehow knew that Mr. Cherry had claimed a history of abuse and he had notice that his client's family and social history might be mitigating. (PC-Tr. 35.) He could not recall discussing the case with Dr. Barnard or whether Barnard's testimony would have been helpful during penalty and further testified:

- Q. Certainly in Dr. Barnard's report he did not detail any specific nonstatutory mitigators.
- A. No, sir.
- Q. Although, the report itself does contain much of the self-reporting from the defendant as to his history.
- A. But as I indicated to Mr. Mills, I really was not concerned with statutory mitigators. I was concerned with getting in front of the jury what I could conceivably get in front of the jury to give them a reason not to put this man in the electric chair.

(PC-Tr. 36.)

Miller reiterated his belief that the history of abuse was "the only credible way in which to keep this man out of the electric chair" and that appellant didn't give him names, yet, when led by the State, reversed his position and states that a mitigation case based on child abuse and alcoholism "did not make any sense." (PC-Tr. 39-41.)

On redirect, Miller testified that he "absolutely" would have presented evidence of brain damage, evidence of a long history of drug abuse, evidence of poverty and "anything that I could have used." (PC-Tr. 45.) However, when confronted with a laundry list of mitigating circumstances applicable to Mr. Cherry (poverty as child, alcoholic and violent parents, fetal alcohol

syndrome, child torture by father, mental illness, public humiliation of child, drug use on day of offense, alcohol use on day of offense, history of huffing gasoline, hunger and neglect as a child, witness to extreme violence and his father killing a man as a child, mental retardation, depression, institutionalization), Miller retreated from his previous testimony and testified he wouldn't have used "all of it." (PC-Tr. 46, 47.)

During re-cross, Miller stated he'd want to know all about the mitigation and the witnesses supporting it before he decided to use it or not. (PC-Tr. 49.)

Dr. Barry W. Crown was accepted, without objection or <u>voir</u> dire by the State, as an expert in clinical and forensic psychology and testified that he "administered to Mr. Cherry a battery of neuropsychological tests specifically to assess the relationship between the brain function and behavior." These tests included "problem solving, concentration, attention, memory, verbal and visual processing and reasoning and judgment, representing the primary areas in the cortex, which is the main part of the brain, and also the subcortical areas in terms of emotional responsiveness." (PC-Tr. 57.) The results revealed that Mr. Cherry is "brain damaged", "has impairments and deficits in multiple functional areas", "functions at a low level", and "that he is significantly impaired." (PC-Tr. 58.) His impairments involve: "his ability to engage in problem solving skills", "his ability to recognize the long term consequences of

his immediate behavior", and "when it comes to paying attention to something when there are distractions in the environment or in the area". <u>Id.</u> Mr. Cherry is more distractable than 97 out of 100 people. He is not an anti-social personality, because that requires both ruling out organic factors and a positive history of such behavior in adolescence (such as fire settings and animal abuse). (PC-Tr. 59.)

Mr. Cherry's organic brain damage is the backdrop for understanding why his behavior appears impulsive or spontaneous and it also rules out a finding of anti-social personality. (PC-Tr. 60.) Full scale IQ of 78 resulted from administration of the Wechsler Adult Intelligence Scale, Revised, but the "scatter of the sub scales", which are "[m]ore important to neuropsychologists", were not homogenous and the testing translated into Mr. Cherry possessing an "age equivalency for abstract problem solving...at [the] level of 8 years 9 months." (PC-Tr. 60, 61.) Low IQ is an additional indicator that precludes a diagnosis of anti-social personality. Further, the background materials led Dr. Crown to find a long history of drug and alcohol abuse going back to childhood, when appellant would huff gasoline ("particularly neurotoxic and particularly at a young age"). He also drank moonshine. He was exposed to agricultural chemicals and lead during childhood. A history of significant physical and emotional abuse is revealed and the long history of brain damage suggests prenatal problems. (PC-Tr. 61.)

Mr. Cherry's mother was a chronic alcoholic and drank during her pregnancy with Roger Cherry. Dr. Crown's opinion, "based on test scores and observations of Mr. Cherry", is that he "does suffer from fetal alcohol syndrome." (PC-Tr. 62.) Additionally, use of cocaine and alcohol, as suggested by appellant's history, worsens the impairments of a brain damaged person. Cocaine in a brain damaged person like Roger Cherry produces "sensory limbrick hyper connection syndrome", which effects impulsivity, the ability to control emotional responses, and the "frontal lobe where our primary reasoning and judgment capacities are." Id.

Adding a stressful situation to a substance abusing, brain damaged person "will create a response that lacks intent without understanding of the consequences" and a "random experience." (PC-Tr. 63.) Dr. Crown found that Mr. Cherry suffered from an extreme mental or emotional disturbance at the time of the offense based upon borderline mental retardation or actual mental retardation (if the scatter is taken into account), organic brain damage, and substance abuse. (PC-Tr. 63, 64.) Dr. Crown also found that the statutory mitigating factor of extreme duress or substantial domination of another based upon his testing, findings as detailed above, and his understanding that other people possessing superior abilities were involved in the crimes. (PC-Tr. 64.) Roger Cherry's ability to appreciate the criminality of his conduct and conform his conduct to the requirements of the law was substantially impaired based on

"frontal lobe syndrome...and further aggravation of substance use and abuse." (PC-Tr. 64, 65.)

Dr. Crown also offered opinions, based upon his expertise, the test results, and review of background materials, that the following nonstatutory mitigating circumstances applied to Roger Cherry: (a) fetal alcohol syndrome; (b) brain damage; (c) "long history of alcohol and substance abuse, including huffing"; (d) "has a deprived childhood." (PC-Tr. 65.); (e) "victim of significant child abuse on the high end of the scale"; and (f) exposure to environmental toxins. (PC-Tr. 69.)

Additionally, given that appellant functions on a third grade level, "Mr. Cherry lacks the capacity to understand the long term consequences of his immediate behavior" and "[t]hat is as close as a neuropsychologist can get and it really is equivalent of having the inability to form intent, so it would be [Dr. Crown's] opinion that [Mr. Cherry] is unable to" form the specific intent to torture or cause great pain to a victim. (PC-Tr. 71, 72.) In reaching his conclusions, Dr. Crown relied upon his examination and testing and collateral information (which is more valuable than the subject's self-reporting). He reviewed Dr. Barnard's report, which appeared to contain no testing, and while the report suggested problems, it did not go beyond a superficial level. (PC-Tr. 73.)

During cross-examination, Dr. Crown testified that he spent the major portion of his 4 1/2 hours with appellant "testing him". Tests were administered personally and in an interactive manner. (PC-Tr. 74.) Dr. Crown specified the tests he performed: Wechsler Intelligence Scale, Shipley Institute of Living Scale, Trail Making Test, Parts A & B, GFW Auditory Selective Attention Test, Rorschach Complex Figure Test, Reitan-Indiana Aphasia Screening Test, Kaufman Neuropsychological Assessment Procedure, Simple Digit Modalities Test, Finger Oscillation Test, word fluency tests, Wide Range Achievement Test Three, Gloria Memory Scale, Draw a Person Test, and Category Test. (PC-Tr. 75.) MMPI was not used due to requiring a 6th grade reading level and word recognition level. Mr. Cherry tested at a 4th grade reading and word recognition level. Id. Dr. Crown determined that a CAT scan or MRI were unsuitable tests for corroborating brain damage, but did suggest a functional brain imaging study. To his knowledge, this test was not performed. (PC-Tr. 76, 77.)

Dr. Crown found it unnecessary to discuss the case with Dr. Barnard since he had his report, no testing was referenced in the report, and the examination was superficial. (PC-Tr. 77, 78.)

Dr. Crown disagrees with the conclusions reached by Dr. Barnard regarding appellant's intelligence level and the magnitude of the mental/neurological deficits, but understands how the superficial nature of a clinical interview would miss the deficits he found. (PC-Tr. 78, 79.)

When the State sought to impeach Dr. Crown with purported evidence of planning regarding the criminal episode, Dr. Crown responded that "you can ascribe planning to it, but I believe it's a random act. It's no different than my dog setting out on

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