# IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

ROGER LEE CHERRY,

Appellant,

v.

CASE NO. 90,511

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

\_\_\_\_\_/

# ON APPEAL FROM THE SEVENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT IN AND FOR VOLUSIA COUNTY, FLORIDA

#### ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

KENNETH S. NUNNELLEY Assistant Attorney General Fla. Bar #0998818 444 Seabreeze Blvd. 5th FL Daytona Beach, FL 32118 (904) 238-4990

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

#

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

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>15</sup>Of course, opinion testimony as to the existence of mitigation carries little weight when there are no supporting facts. *Gudinas v. State*, 693 So.2d 953 (Fla. 1997); *Walls v. State*, 641 So.2d 381 (Fla. 1994).

argues, is not a basis for relief. *Floyd v. State*, 497 So.2d 1211 (Fla. 1986); *Quince v. State*, 414 So.2d 185 (Fla. 1987). The trial court's denial of post-conviction relief should be affirmed in all respects.

On pages 49-62 of his brief, Cherry discusses various nonstatutory mitigation which, he claims, was proven. However, that portion on the brief misses the point: that "mitigation" was contained in Dr. Barnard's report, which was presented to the jury, as the trial court found. (R1730). Because that "mitigation" is merely cumulative to that which was presented at the penalty phase of Cherry's trial, counsel's performance was not deficient, and Cherry is not entitled to relief on ineffective assistance of counsel grounds. The most that Cherry has done is prove that present counsel would have tried the case differently. That is not the standard by which ineffectiveness claims are evaluated, and Cherry has not carried his burden of proof.

In addition to failing to establish deficient performance, Cherry cannot demonstrate that he was prejudiced, as he must to prevail under *Strickland*. The evidence of the brutal murder at issue was, simply put, overwhelming. See pages 1-4, above. None of the "mitigation" at issue, even assuming that it should have been put before the jury, is sufficient to mitigate the brutal murder of

an elderly victim in her own home. None of that "evidence" is sufficient to in any way ameliorate Cherry's guilt, and, because that is so, there is no prejudice. *See, Tafero v. State*, 459 So.2d 1034 (Fla. 1984). Death is the appropriate sentence in this case.

On pages 64-70, Cherry argues that the trial court applied the wrong legal standard when it denied relief on the ineffective assistance of counsel claim. Precisely how the trial court failed to apply the proper legal standard is not explained -- apparently Cherry believes that the trial court's use of the phrases "probably," "highly likely," and "demonstrate that the outcome of the proceedings would have resulted in a different result" demonstrate a misapplication of the Strickland v. Washington standard. However, as set out at pages 22-25, above, the Strickland standard is not an outcome-determinative one. Instead, that standard focuses on whether there is a reasonable probability of a different result in the proceeding, which is defined as а "probability sufficient to undermine confidence in the outcome." Strickland, supra. Moreover, it is not enough for the defendant to establish that some error occurred -- unless the error rendered the result of the proceeding **unfair**, there is no basis for relief, because to do otherwise would grant the defendant a windfall when he was not prejudiced. Lockhart v. Fretwell, 506 U.S. 364 (1993).

Cherry has not met the standard that he must in order to be entitled to relief.

To the extent that Cherry attacks the trial court's conclusion that his hand-picked mental state expert did not use any formal evaluation" "testing to reach his diagnosis of "mental retardation", it appears that Crown ignored the "adaptive function" component of the definition of retardation. (R109-10). To the extent that Cherry complains about the trial court's statement that the mental state expert conducted no "physical tests" even though the evidence was that "neuropsychological testing is more sensitive than any other form of testing for brain damage", the trial court's statement regarding the propriety of conducting such physical testing is in accord with this Court's decision in Hoskins v. State, 702 So.2d 202 (Fla. 1997), where this Court remanded the proceeding so that the type of testing referred to by the trial court could be conducted.<sup>16</sup> Moreover, Dr. Crown disagrees with the Diagnostic and Statistical Manual -- Fourth Edition, even though that is one of the leading treatises in the field of psychology. (R1728).<sup>17</sup> Further, throughout his brief, Cherry is referred to as

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>16</sup>Obviously Dr. Crown thinks that his method of neuropsychological testing is more accurate and discriminating than does this court. *See, Hoskins*. See also, note 11, above.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>17</sup>Dr. Crown elected to rely on another definition of mental retardation which was more favorable to the defendant under the

"borderline retarded." Under the DSM-IV (and all prior versions of the DSM), there is no such thing as "borderline retardation."<sup>18</sup> DSM-IV at 45, 684. Dr. Crown's use of such a misleading (and nonexistent) phrase is yet another example of his bias in favor of the defendant. Dr. Crown further erroneously testified that Cherry could not be diagnosed as an Anti-Social Personality because he had been abused as a child and because he suffers from "organic brain damage". There is no support in the psychological literature for such a statement, and, in fact, such statement is plainly incorrect. DSM-IV at 648-49.

To the extent that further discussion of this issue is necessary, the trial court correctly resolved the conflicts in the testimony, and correctly credited Dr. Barnard over Dr. Crown<sup>19</sup>. The trial court expressly (and correctly) found that, even taking into account the "new" information about Cherry, Dr. Barnard's opinions and conclusions did not change. (R1728). That finding of fact is supported by the evidence, and should be affirmed.

particular facts of this case.

<sup>18</sup>The correct phrase is "borderline intellectual functioning." DSM-IV at 684.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>19</sup>Dr. Crown's bias against the State was readily apparent, and was evidenced by comments such as "Lawyers suffer from ASPD". The criminal components of such a diagnosis make that very unlikely. See, DSM-IV at 649-50.

To the extent that Cherry claims, on pages 68-70 of his brief, that the trial court erred in finding that Cherry would not communicate with trial counsel regarding potential mitigation witnesses, the testimony of trial counsel speaks for itself. (R31-33). That finding by the trial court is correct in all respects.<sup>20</sup> Finally, this case is, in many respects, the functional equivalent of *Kokal v. Dugger*, No. 73,102 (Fla. 07/16/98), with the difference being that there is no deficiency in counsel's performance. The trial court's denial of relief should be affirmed.

#### II. THE INCOMPETENT MENTAL STATE EXPERT CLAIM

On pages 70-78 of his brief, Cherry argues that he is entitled to relief because he did not receive a "competent" mental state evaluation and because counsel was ineffective for not investigating and providing background information to the mental state expert. The rule 3.850 trial court denied relief on this claim on alternative grounds, and that disposition should be affirmed in all respects.

The first reason that the incompetent mental state expert

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>20</sup>On pages 69-70 of his brief, Cherry sets out a hyperbolic recitation of the "evidence" that could have been presented in mitigation. As set out above, such evidence is cumulative. To the extent that such listing states that Cherry's mother chased him with a knife "in the fit of an epileptic seizure", such is physically impossible.

claim is not a basis for relief is that it is procedurally barred because it could have been but was not raised on direct appeal. Doyle v. State, 526 So.2d 909, 911 (Fla. 1988). The trial court imposed that procedural bar, and that ruling should be affirmed in all respects.  $(R1731).^{21}$ 

The second reason that this claim is not a basis for relief is because the "evidence" of organic brain damage and mental retardation is, as the trial court found, speculative. (R1730). There has been no showing that an expert could have been located at the time of trial who would have testified as did the collateral attack expert, and that failure of proof is fatal to Cherry's claim. See, Kokal v. Dugger, No. 73,102 (Fla. 07/16/98); Elledge v. Dugger, 823 F.3d 1439 (11th Cir. 1987); Horsley v. Alabama, 45 F.3d 1486 (11th Cir. 1995). Moreover, the defendant is not entitled to a psychiatrist of his own choosing or liking, and clearly is not constitutionally entitled to a **favorable** psychiatric opinion. Ake v. Oklahoma, 470 U.S. 68 (1985).

In his brief, Cherry argues that trial counsel was ineffective for not providing background material to the trial mental state expert and for not requesting mental state assistance for penalty

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>21</sup>Cherry does not address the procedural bar in his Initial Brief.

phase use. As the trial court properly found, trial counsel consulted with the mental state expert and introduced his written report into evidence at the penalty phase of Cherry's trial. (R1731). As set out at pages 25-34, above, the additional "evidence" offered at the rule 3.850 hearing is, at most, cumulative to that contained within that report, which went to the jury without cross-examination. (R1731). As Dr. Barnard (the trial expert) testified, none of the "additional" information about Cherry affected his professional opinion. (R321-323). Because that is the case, Cherry cannot establish prejudice.<sup>22</sup>

On pages 73-74 of his brief, Cherry enumerates a number of matters to which Dr. Barnard testified during the post-conviction hearing. However, those matters are all cumulative to the matters contained in Dr. Barnard's written report with the exception of the claim that Cherry was intoxicated at the time of the murders. As the trial court found, any claim of intoxication is rebutted by the testimony of Cherry himself<sup>23</sup> and by the circumstances of the crime. (R1731). Cherry's theory of the case was that he was innocent, and,

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>22</sup>To the extent that Cherry complains, on page 72 of his brief, that Dr. Barnard conducted no testing, that statement is nothing more than gratuitous criticism. It is axiomatic that psychiatrists, like Dr. Barnard, do not conduct paper-and-pencil testing.

 $<sup>^{23}</sup>$ Cherry denied substance abuse to Dr. Barnard and when he testified. (R1732 at n. 8).

because that is so, an intoxication defense would have been totally inconsistent with the rest of the defense case, either as a guilt phase theory or at the penalty phase as "mitigation." Cherry's argument places great weight on the theoretical "perfect" penalty phase as envisioned by his present attorneys. However, perfection is not required, nor is it the standard by which counsel's performance is evaluated. *Waterhouse v. State*, 522 So.2d 341, 343 (Fla. 1988).

The theory advanced by present counsel fails to take into account the reality of the situation -- Cherry was charged with the brutal murder of two elderly persons, a crime which, under the best of circumstances, presents a difficult case for mitigation. It would not be in Cherry's interest to change to an intoxication theory of defense at the penalty phase after unsuccessfully attempting to convince the jury that he was innocent. Such a strategy would not have been successful, and it certainly cannot be said that no reasonable lawyer would have decided not to use such a theory. *Waters v. Thomas*, 46 F.3d 1506 (11th Cir. 1995). The fact is that there are certain cases that simply cannot be won, and this is one of those cases. *Clisby v. Alabama*, 26 F.3d 1054 (11th Cir. 1994). The trial court properly denied relief on this claim,

and that decision should be affirmed in all respects.<sup>24</sup>

# III. THE "FAILURE TO OBJECT" INEFFECTIVENESS CLAIMS

On pages 79-89 of his brief, Cherry raises several claims of ineffective assistance of counsel based upon trial counsel's "failure" to object to various matters during the penalty phase of Cherry's trial<sup>25</sup>. For the reasons set out below, none of those "claims" is a basis for reversal of the trial court's denial of relief.

Of the specifications of ineffective assistance of counsel set out in footnote 12, below, the allegation concerning the "doubling" of aggravators was raised and addressed on direct appeal, as the trial court found. (R1734); *Cherry v. State*, 544 So.2d at 187. This Court found that improper doubling of the during the course of a burglary and committed for pecuniary gain aggravators had occurred,

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>24</sup>Cherry places great reliance on *Starr v. Lockhart*, 23 F.3d 1280 (8th Cir. 1994). That decision is not binding on this Court, and is of no value to Cherry because it does not state the law accurately.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>25</sup>The specifications of ineffectiveness are: failure to object to all aggravators; failure to object to "doubling" of aggravators; failure to object to the heinous, atrocious, or cruel jury instruction; failure to object to instructions that "placed the burden" on Cherry to prove that mitigators outweighed aggravators; failure to object to an anti-sympathy jury instruction; failure to object to a jury instruction that allowed "non-statutory aggravators" to be found; and failure to object "to a host of improper comments made by the prosecutor during closing argument."

but that death was still the appropriate sentence. *Id.* Cherry is not entitled to relitigate an issue that this Court resolved on direct appeal by pleading it in the guise of a claim of ineffective assistance of counsel. *Medina v. State*, 573 So.2d 293, 295 (Fla. 1990). The trial court properly denied relief on this claim. (R1733).

Insofar as the other claims contained in this issue are concerned, this Court held those claims procedurally barred in its 1995 opinion<sup>26</sup>. Cherry v. State, 659 So. 2d at 1071 n. 1, 1072. Because that is true, and because Cherry has not even suggested how that disposition is erroneous (other than that he does not like the result), there is no basis for further discussion of issues which have already been decided. The trial court's denial of relief on these claims, while perhaps reaching farther than necessary, is correct and should be affirmed in all respects.

## IV. THE DENIAL OF THE MOTIONS TO PERPETUATE TESTIMONY

On pages 89-91 of his brief, Cherry argues that the trial court erred to reversal when it denied his motions to perpetuate the testimony of three expert witnesses: Dr. Glen Caddy, Dr. Kris

 $<sup>^{26}{\</sup>rm The}$  summary denial of the ineffective assistance of counsel components of those claims was also affirmed by this Court. Cherry v. State, 659 So.2d at 1072.

Sperry, and Dr. Diane Lavate. The motions at issue were filed in open court *during* the December, 1996 hearing. (R1710-19). The trial court denied those motions. (TR475). For the reasons set out below, that ruling was not an abuse of discretion, and should be affirmed in all respects<sup>27</sup>.

The motion to perpetuate testimony at issue in Cherry's appeal from the denial of rule 3.850 relief was filed near the end of the evidentiary hearing conducted by the circuit court. In fact, only two witnesses testified after the filing of that motion, and one of those witnesses (Joe Fludd) was a person claimed to be unavailable in the motion at issue.<sup>28</sup> (R1711). At best, the timing of Cherry's motion is highly suspect, and, obviously was calculated to delay the proceedings by seeking leave to perpetuate the testimony of witnesses whose whereabouts were unknown. Further, under the clear language of *Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure* 3.190(j), the trial court had the discretion to deny the motion as untimely because

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>27</sup>In his brief, Cherry refers to the motion to perpetuate as a "renewed" motion. That is an incorrect and misleading label.(R1710). While it is true that a motion to perpetuate had been filed previously, that motion was based upon the claimed unavailability of certain witnesses for an *August* hearing. That hearing was continued. (R166). The motion at issue was a wholly new motion that Cherry held back until the hearing was practically concluded.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>28</sup>Fludd was the last witness to testify, and he took the stand shortly after the filing of the motion at issue. (TR462).

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